THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-28-00726

Appellate Case No. 2020-000063

In the Matter of:
Almeter B. Robinson
(Decedent)

Laverne Robinson, Appellant,

v.

Willene Brooks, Mary Greene, Ronnie Robinson, Almeter P.
Harrison, Herbert Robinson, James Robinson, Leroy Robinson, and
Martha Aiken, Defendants,

Of Whom Mary Greene, Ronnie Robinson, Almeter P. Harrison,
Leroy Robinson, and Martha Aiken are the Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BAXLEY, PRATT & WELLS, P.A.
John W. Wells, SC Bar 6019
Attorney for the Appellant
Three The Common at Lugoff

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHERE THE TESTATOR HAS GRANTED A POWER OF ATTORNEY TO THE PROPONENT OF A WILL, DOES THE RESULTING PRESUMPTION OF UNDUE INFLUENCE IMPOSE UPON THE PROPONENT OF THE WILL THE BURDEN OF GOING FORWARD TO PRESENT EVIDENCE, OR THE BURDEN OF PROOF?
- II. DID THE PROBATE JUDGE IMPOSE THE BURDEN OF PROOF UPON THE APPELLANT ON THE ISSUE OF UNDUE INFLUENCE?
- III. DID THE PROBATE JUDGE COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW BY IMPOSING THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE PROPONENT OF THE WILL ON THE ISSUE OF UNDUE INFLUENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Petition filed in the Probate Court for Kershaw County on August 14, 2017, seeking to admit a copy of a will executed by Almeter Robinson on February 3, 2015, and have the Appellant appointed as Personal Representative in accordance with the will. An Answer was filed on behalf of Respondents Mary Greene, Ronnie Robinson, Almeter P. Harrison, Leroy Robinson and Martha Aiken asserting that the February 3, 2015, will had been revoked, that it was executed when the decedent lack capacity or was under undue influence by the Appellant. The Answer was filed on September 15, 2017.

After the Answer was filed, but before the case was tried, the Appellant discovered and filed the original will. Also, after the Answer was filed but before the case was tried, the Respondent Martha Aiken relieved her attorney of record Moultrie B. Burns, Jr. and retained Leonard R. Jordan, Jr. to represent her in this matter.

Almeter B. Robinson died a resident of Kershaw County on February 25, 2017. At the time of her death, Almeter Robinson had no spouse, and the Appellant and the Respondents were her surviving children. Respondent Herbert Robinson died after the case was filed, but before the

trial.

The case was tried before the Honorable Debra B. Branham on July 9, 2018. Her Order dated August 10, 2018, ruled that the February 3, 2015 will was properly executed according to §62-2-502; that insufficient evidence of lack of capacity by the testator to execute the will was presented; and that the February 3, 2015 will was invalid because of undue influence over the testator exerted by the Appellant. (R. p. 1-6)

The Appellant filed and served his Notice of Intent to Appeal to Circuit Court on August 17, 2018. The Appeal was heard by the Honorable Robert E. Hood on September 23, 2019. The Honorable Robert E. Hood issued his Order Affirming the Probate Court Order on October 3, 2019. The Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend a Judgment under Rule 59(e) SCRPC on October 8, 2019. The Honorable Robert E. Hood issued his Amended Order Affirming Probate Court Order on January 2, 2020. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on January 14, 2020. The Appellant timely ordered a transcript of the September 23, 2019 appeal hearing which was delivered to Appellant's counsel on December 18, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to set aside a will is an action at law. In re Estate of Cumbee, 333 S.C. 664, 670, 511 S.E. 2d 390, 393 (Ct.App.1999). "If a proceeding in the Probate Court is in the nature of an action at law, review by the Circuit Court and this Court extends merely to the correction of errors of law. Bob Jones Univ. v. Strandell 344 S.C. 224, 543 S.E. 2d 251 (2001).

FACTS

Almeter B. Robinson was born April 25, 1928. Her husband and the father of the Appellant and the Respondents died around 1980. She had ten (10) children one of whom,

Freddie, died in the 1990's without heirs other than his brothers and sisters who are the named parties in this action. Herbert Robinson who is a named party in default in this action died several months before the case was tried.

Almeter B. Robinson lived most of her life on three (3) tracts of land in close proximity to each other that were inherited from her mother and father, a ten (10) acre unimproved tract, an eight (8) acre unimproved tract and a four (4) acre tract sometimes referred to as a five (5) acre tract, on which stood the house in which she lived. Beginning in 1977, Almeter Robinson executed a series of deeds conveying the three (3) tracts to various children as trustees. As to the four (4) acre tract with the house on it, it was deeded to Respondent Martha Aiken as Trustee, and a trust agreement was executed naming Almeter Robinson and her deceased husband as beneficiaries of the trust for their lives and providing a scheme for the distribution of the four (4) acre tract upon the death of the last surviving beneficiary. As to the ten (10) acre tract and the eight (8) acre tract, no trust agreement stating the terms of the trusts on those tracts has been produced by any of the trustees.

It is apparent that Almeter B. Robinson believed that she was entitled to control the distribution of all three tracts because all three tracts are distributed between the Appellant and the Respondents in the February 3, 2015, will, as well as in prior wills she executed in 1994 and in 2009.

In 2014, the Appellant moved from Maryland into the home of his mother on the four (4) acre tract to act as a caregiver. The Appellant was the only one of her children who was willing and able to provide twenty-four (24) hour care for her in her own home. Respondent Mary Green had taken her mother into her home for a period of time, and other Respondents had provided other services for their mother, but the Appellant was the only one willing to move in with her

and provide care in her home.

On August 22, 2014, Almeter B. Robinson executed a durable power of attorney appointing the Appellant as agent. On February 3, 2015, Almeter B. Robinson executed the Last Will and Testament that is the subject of this action. The February 3, 2015 will was prepared by attorney Deborah Butcher. Attorney Butcher talked to Mrs. Robinson out of the presence of the Appellant before preparing the will (R. p. 38, lines 18-23) When Mrs. Robinson returned to execute the will Attorney Butcher read the will to her. (R. p. 39, lines 1-10) Attorney Butcher saw no signs of undue influence (R. p. 40, lines 1-14) R. p. 41, lines 3-8)

The February 3, 2015 will appointed the Appellant as Personal Representative. It distributed the lands and the home of the Testator more or less evenly between the Appellant and the Respondents except for Mary Green who was left out of the distribution. The residuary of the estate went to the Appellant, but the bulk of the value in the estate was in the land, the distribution of which did not favor the Appellant. Almeter B. Robinson died on February 25, 2017.

ARGUMENTS

I. WHERE THE TESTATOR HAS GRANTED A POWER OF ATTORNEY TO THE PROPONENT OF A WILL, DOES THE RESULTING PRESUMPTION OF UNDUE INFLUENCE IMPOSE UPON THE PROPONENT OF THE WILL THE BURDEN OF GOING FORWARD TO PRESENT EVIDENCE, OR THE BURDEN OF PROOF?

Section 62-3-407 S.C. Code of Laws Ann. clearly states, “Contestants of a will have the burden of establishing undue influence, fraud, duress, mistake, revocation, or lack of testamentary intent or capacity. Parties have the ultimate burden of persuasion as to matters with respect to which they have the initial burden of proof.” The General Assembly did not carve out an exception in cases where the testator has granted a power of attorney, though it could have

done so. The exception to the rule that the contestant of the will bears the burden of proof was created by the Court of Appeals in Howard v. Nasser 364 S.C. 279, 613 S.E.2d 64 (2005), which held that a presumption of undue influence in the execution of a will is directed against the proponent of a will if the decedent had created a fiduciary relationship between he and the proponent by granting the proponent a power of attorney.

Prior to Nasser, South Carolina common law in contested deed cases provided that a presumption of undue influence arises if the contestants of the validity of a deed present evidence of an existing fiduciary relationships between grantor and grantee. Middleton v. Suber 300 S.C. 402, 388 S.E.2d 639 (1990). There was no conflict between the statutory law and common law because the burden of proof in deed cases was not controlled by §62-3-407 S.C. Code of Laws Ann. In Nasser, the Court of Appeals cited another deed case, Dixon v. Dixon 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d, 849 (2005), in which the Supreme Court relied on the principles of undue influence issue in will cases to decide the undue influence issue in a deed case. The Nasser Court then relied on precedent from other jurisdictions cited in the Dixon Case as follows:

“In reaching its decision, the court utilized the principals of undue influence applicable to contested will cases. The Court relied on precedent from other jurisdictions which has found that the analysis is the same regardless of whether the underlying document sought to be set aside on the grounds that the Plaintiff was unduly influenced is a will or a deed.” Howard v. Nasser supra, emphasis added.

The problem with relying on South Carolina deed cases and the case of law of other jurisdictions on presumptions and the burden of proof in undue influence cases is that South Carolina has a statute controlling the burden of proof in will cases that does not apply to deed cases, while other jurisdictions do not. The analysis of undue influence in deed cases may be the same as in will cases in other states, but in South Carolina §62-3-407 S.C. Code of Laws Ann. sets the analysis in will cases apart from deed cases by assigning the burden of proof to the

contestant of the will throughout the trial.

To resolve the conflict between the presumption of undue influence arising from the grant of a power of attorney, and the clear language of §62-3-407 S.C. Code of Laws Ann., the Court then cites the following language from Comment of Restatement (Third) of Property: Wills and Other Donative Transfers §8.3

“A presumption of undue influence arises if the alleged wrong doer was in a confidential relationship with the donor and there were suspicious circumstances surrounding the preparation, formulation, or execution of the donative transfer, whether the transfer was by gift, trust, will, will substitute, or on a donative transfer of any other type. The effect of the presumption is to shift to the proponent the burden of going forward with the evidence, not the burden of persuasion. The presumption justifies a judgment for the contestant as a matter of law only if the proponent does not come forward with evidence to rebut the presumption.” Howard v. Nasser supra. Emphasis added.

In addition, Rule 301 S.C.R.E. states as follows:

“In all civil actions and proceedings not otherwise provided for by statute or by these rules, a presumption imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of going forward with evidence to rebut or meet the presumption but does not shift to such party the burden of proof in the sense of the risk of nonpersuasion, which remains throughout the trial upon the party on whom it was originally cast.”

In summary, the presumption of undue influence arising from the grant of a power of attorney shifts to the proponent of a will the burden of going forward to present evidence to rebut the presumption but does not shift the burden of proof. This crucial distinction between the burden of proof and the burden of going forward was important enough to require its own Section in the South Carolina Rules of Evidence

II. DID THE PROBATE JUDGE IMPOSE THE BURDEN OF PROOF UPON THE APPELLANT ON THE ISSUE OF UNDUE INFLUENCE?

The Honorable Probate Judge of Kershaw County is not a lawyer. In the trial of this case, she was presented with a delicate legal issue that has confounded jurists for ages, the difference between the burden of proof and the burden of going forward with evidence. Judges generally

know that a presumption shifts a burden from one party to another, but which burden is it? Is it the burden of proof or the burden of going forward to present evidence? Without legal training, the Probate Judge had a fifty-fifty chance of picking the correct burden under Rule 301 S.C.R.E. Unfortunately, she picked the wrong one.

We know that the Probate Judge imposed the burden of proof on the Appellant proponent of the will because she says that she did. On page 4 of the August 10, 2018 Order (R. p. 4), she states:

“This circumstance is very important for the Court to look at because if a confidential or Fiduciary Relationship between the Testator and the Beneficiary exist, the burden of proof rebutting undue influence falls on the beneficiary.” (R. p. 4), emphasis added.

“Argument was made on behalf of the Plaintiff that the burden of proof was met to rebut undue influence by the testimony of the Attorney Butcher wherein she testified that she did not believe that the decedent was under any undue influence of the Plaintiff beneficiary.” August 10, 2018 Order pg. 4, (R. p. 4), emphasis added.

The language in the August 10, 2018 Order could not be clearer. The Probate Judge found that the August 22, 2014, Power of Attorney created a fiduciary relationship between the testator and the Appellant creating a presumption of undue influence in the execution of the February 3, 2015 will, and she shifted the burden of proof on the issue of undue influence to the Appellant.

III. DID THE PROBATE JUDGE COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW BY IMPOSING THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE PROPONENT OF THE WILL ON THE ISSUE OF UNDUE INFLUENCE?

When the Probate Judge imposed the burden of proof on the proponent of the will, the Appellant herein, she violated the clear language in §62-3-407 S.C. Code of Laws Ann. imposing the burden of proof on the contestant of the will. She violated the clear language of Howard V. Nasser supra. “The effect of the presumption is to shift to the proponent the burden of going

forward with evidence, not the burden of persuasion.” Finally, she violated the clear language of Rule 301 S.C.R.E.

“In all civil actions and proceeding not otherwise provided for by statute or by these rules, a presumption imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of going forward with evidence to rebut or meet the presumption but does not shift to such party the burden of proof in the sense of the risk of nonpersuasion, which remains throughout the trial upon the party on whom it was originally cast.”

The error of law was prejudicial to the Appellant. The Appellant met his burden of going forward to present evidence by presenting the testimony of attorney Deborah Butcher who prepared the will and supervised its execution. She testified to the absence of undue influence as follows:

1. Q: Okay. Now, did you see any evidence of undue
2. influence exerted by the relative that was with
3. her?
4. A: No.
5. Q: Were you sensitive to that?
6. A: Yes. Matter of fact we -- sometimes people
7. will say, I want to make sure I did this all
8. right. I'm actually taking one that's going on
9. now.
10. Q: Did you see the person that was with her
11. threaten her in any way?
12. A: No. She was very comfortable. That's one
13. thing I do look for, is how comfortable
14. they are with whoever brings them in.
(R. p. 40, lines 1-14)
3. Q: Did you see the person that was with Mrs.
4. Robinson do anything that would destroy her
5. free agency in the execution of that will?
6. A: No.
7. Q: Now, did Almeter Robinson sign the will?
8. A: Yes.
(R. p. 41, lines 3-8)

Once the Appellant presented the above testimony of Deborah Butcher, the Appellant had met his burden to produce evidence rebutting the presumption of undue influence. The Appellant had done exactly what Rule 301 S.C.R.E requires, he had presented evidence in the form of

sworn testimony by a member of the South Carolina Bar to rebut a presumption of undue influence. To affirm the Probate Court Order, this Court must take the position that the sworn testimony of a member of the bar is not evidence. The Butcher testimony may not be strong enough to satisfy a burden of proof, but it does not have to be. The burden of proof of undue influence is on the Respondent from beginning to end. The Butcher testimony satisfies the burden of going forward to present evidence, and the presumption of undue influence arising from the grant of the power of attorney vanishes. See Coleman v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co 241 S.C. 384, 128 S.E. 2d. 699 (1962)

“If it is true that where death by violent injury has occurred, there is a presumption against suicide, but this is a presumption of law and not of fact. When evidence as to the fact of suicide is introduced, the presumption vanishes and the question must be decided upon the evidence.” emphasis added.

In both orders affirming the Probate Judge’s August 10, 2018 Order, the Circuit Court largely ignored the burden shifting error of law argued by the Appellant, and instead focused on circumstantial evidence of undue influence in the trial transcript supporting the Respondent’s position, as if the issue on appeal was the sufficiency of the evidence. This is not a sufficiency of the evidence appeal. Had the Probate Judge imposed the burden of proof on the Respondents, they might have satisfied the burden of proof of undue influence. We will never know because she committed an error of law by imposing the burden of proof on the Appellant. We cannot go back and reconstruct what the outcome would have been had the Probate Judge assigned the burden of proof to the correct party.

In criminal cases, presumptions that shift the burden of proof to the Defendant have long been held to be unconstitutional, and to constitute reversible error. State v. Neva 300 S.C. 450, 388 S.E.2d 791 (1990) State v. Key 282 S.C. 413, 319 S.E.2d 338 (1984) In civil cases, burden

shifting errors of law have also resulted in the reversal of the trial court. See Middleton v. Suber 300 S.C. 402, 388 S.E.2d 639 (S.Ct. 1990)

The Probate Judge's decision in this case was controlled by an error of law, and should be reversed.

CONCLUSION