RECEIVED
Feb 11 2021
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-28-00726

Appellate Case No. 2020-000063

In the Matter of: Almeter B. Robinson

Laverne Robinson,..... Appellant,

v.

Willene Brooks, Mary Green, Ronnie Robinson, Almeter P. Harrison, Herbert Robinson, James Robinson, Leroy Robinson and Martha Aiken, Defendants,

Of Whom, Mary Green, Ronnie Robinson, Almeter P. Harrison, Leroy Robinson and Martha Aiken are Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

s/Leonard R. Jordan, Jr.
Leonard R. Jordan, Jr., #3221
JORDAN LAW FIRM

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

ARGUMENTS

I. APPELLANT EXERTED UNDUE INFLUENCE OVER THE TESTATRIX.

A. According to *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 222-23, 578 S.E.2d 329, 336-37 (2003), the following factors may prove useful “in determining whether undue influence was exerted over the testator:”

- (1) **Old age and physical and mental weakness . . .**
- (2) **The person signing the paper is in the home of the beneficiary and subject to his constant association and supervision . . .**
- (3) **Others have little or no opportunity to see [the testator] . . .**
- (4) **The Will is different from and revokes a prior Will . . .**
- (5) **It is made in favor of one with whom there are no ties of blood . . .**

(6) **It disinherits the natural objects of [the testator’s] bounty . . .**

(7) **The beneficiary has procured its execution. . . .**

When this list of factors is applied to the facts of this case, each factor (except factor (5)) is squarely applicable to describe the circumstances surrounding the subject Will and its procurement, as follows:

Old age and physical and mental weakness. Almeter Robinson was almost 87 years old. She was in poor physical health and required regular (24-hour) care. (R.pp. ____) Mrs. Robinson had only an eighth-grade education. (R.p. ____) According to Patricia, her mother had dementia prior to executing the 2015 Will. (R.p. ____) According to Leroy, his mother “was diagnosed with dementia and she was on dementia patches.” (R.p. ____) According to Mary, her mother was on medication for dementia. (R.p. ____)

The person signing the paper is in the home of the beneficiary and subject to his constant association and supervision. Almeter Robinson resided with Appellant (the beneficiary to whom Mrs. Robinson bequeathed the entirety of her residuary estate and the person designated by Mrs. Robinson as her Personal Representative in the 2015 Will) exclusively beginning in May 2014 and continuing until her death in 2017. (R.p. ____)

Appellant often touted the Power of Attorney (prepared by him and signed by Almeter Robinson) as his authority to be the exclusive caretaker of his mother. (R.p. ____) Leroy testified that Appellant often used the Power of Attorney “as the means of taking control of the situation with the hospital and other matters.” (R.p. ____)

Appellant’s “control” even extended to overriding doctor’s instructions for a nurse to regularly check on Mrs. Robinson. Mary testified that Appellant said, “Mama don’t need no nurse;” and that, “a nurse never went to mama house . . . [and] [w]hen mama was on her death bed

and needed hospice, no hospice or nobody came to mama house. Mama just stayed locked up in the house and didn't get no kind of care." (R.p. ____)

Others have little or no opportunity to see [the testator]. Appellant restricted visitation and communication with Almeter Robinson by her other children. (R.pp. ____) Appellant used threats, including threats of physical force, against family-members in order to demonstrate his complete control over his mother. (R.pp. ____)

"Generally, in cases where a will has been set aside for undue influence, there has been evidence of threats, force, and/or restricted visitation, or an existing fiduciary relationship." *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 333 (2003).

Appellant demanded that his siblings obtain his permission before coming to visit their mother, and Appellant often called 9-1-1 and involved the police to intimidate certain of his siblings to refrain from interacting with their mother. On December 16, 2014, Appellant, upon returning home late, found his mother to be gone; and he called 9-1-1, claiming that Mary took Mrs. Robinson without his permission. It turns-out that the aide assigned to stay with Mrs. Robinson was sick, and that Mrs. Robinson would have been left alone if Mary had not taken her mother to her home. (R.p. ____)

Confrontations continued thereafter, with Appellant demanding that Mary leave their mother's home and calling the police. (R.p. ____) Appellant threatened Mary, "you better not even come here again and get her without my permission." (R.p. ____) Appellant also threatened Greg Aiken (Martha's husband): "Don't you ever come back to mama's house for nothing." (R.pp. ____)

As found by Judge Branham: (a) Ronnie testified that, "Laverne changed everything;" (b) Leroy testified that, "He controlled her until the day she died;" and (c) Martha testified that

Appellant “told her to call before she came to visit,” and “he changed the locks on the house” (the house which she alone owned). (R.p. ____) Ronnie also testified that, when Laverne moved-in, his opportunities to visit changed altogether. (R.p. ____) Leroy also testified that, after Laverne came, “I felt like my mom was in jail. When you would call there, wouldn’t answer the calls. When you go there, wouldn’t answer the door. And not only that, felt somewhat threatened to go there . . . he wouldn’t allow me to be in the room when the doctor called in. He asked me to leave out when she was dying.” (R.p. ____) Patricia also testified that Appellant’s moving-in with Mrs. Robinson substantially impacted her ability to visit with her mother. (R.p. ____)

The Will is different from and revokes a prior Will. The 2015 Will is remarkably different from, and expressly revokes, the two preceding Wills. Reference is made to the three Wills included in the Record. (R.pp. ____) The primary differences have to do with the residuary estate and the designated personal representative. In her earlier Wills, Almeter Robinson bequeathed her residuary estate to her children equally (R.pp. ____); and in her 2015 Will, Mrs. Robinson bequeathed the entirety of her residuary estate to Appellant. (R.p. ____) In her earlier Wills, Almeter Robinson designated Mary as her Personal Representative; and in the 2015 Will, she designated Appellant as her Personal Representative.

It disinherits the natural objects of [the testator’s] bounty. The 2009 Will left the rest and residue of Almeter Robinson’s estate equally to her nine (9) surviving children; and the 2015 Will left the entire rest and residue of the estate exclusively to Appellant. (R.pp. ____)

The beneficiary has procured its execution. Appellant arranged for the preparation of the 2015 Will, and he accompanied Mrs. Robinson to the attorney’s office to execute the Will. (R.p. ____) He also provided instructions to Attorney Butcher and withheld important information regarding property ownership from Ms. Butcher. (R.p. ____) Judge Branham found that Appellant

obtained copies of prior Wills of Mrs. Robinson and “gave this information to the Butcher Law Firm to draft the 2015 Will.” (R.p. ____)

The 2015 Will does not mention Mary at all. Importantly, Appellant and Mary were often at odds. Appellant testified, “Mary’s been a real pain in my butt trying to take care of my mom.” (R.p. ____) Mary testified at length regarding her and her husband’s confrontations with Appellant, which involved Appellant calling the police and threatening Mary’s husband and Leroy. (R.p. ____)

The confrontation between Mary and Appellant, which took place on December 16, 2014 (see page 7, *supra*), was less than two months prior to the execution of the 2015 Will. Mary was unaware that she has been excluded from the 2015 Will; and she believed that Appellant (not her mother) excluded her. (R.pp. ____) Again, Mary was the person whom Mrs. Robinson entrusted to handle her estate in her previous Wills, and the 2015 Will (orchestrated by Appellant) fails to even mention Mary. Appellant failed to explain this circumstance.

B. The Honorable Debra B. Branham, Kershaw County Probate Judge, properly concluded that Appellant “had total control of his mother’s person . . . [from] May of 2014 until her death.” (R.p. ____) She further concluded that Appellant “did not deny that he was ‘basically out to have all the control that you can possibly have.’ His response was ‘I took care of my mom.’” (R.p. ____)

Judge Branham also properly concluded that the Power of Attorney (executed by Almeter Robinson, which was prepared by Appellant and appointed him as agent) “coupled with the fact that he was the primary caretaker of his mother from May of 2014 up to her death, shows the Court that a confidential and fiduciary relationship did exist between the Plaintiff, a beneficiary, and the decedent.” (R.p. ____).

Judge Branham also properly concluded, “based upon all the testimony presented including the testimony of the Plaintiff beneficiary, the Plaintiff beneficiary had total control of his mother’s person, excluding or limiting his siblings’ visitation and communications with the decedent from the time he moved in with his mother in May or 2014 until her death.” (R.p. _____)

Appellant appealed Judge Branham’s Order to the circuit court; and following a hearing, the Honorable Robert E. Hood, Judge, Court of Common Pleas for Kershaw County, affirmed, in all respects, Judge Branham’s Order. Judge Hood specifically found that Judge Branham “considered the facts of undue influence . . . [and] found that Respondents produced sufficient evidence to support a finding of undue influence by Appellant.” (R.p. _____)

II. WHO HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE ISSUE OF UNDUPLICATE INFLUENCE?

A. Presumption of Undue Influence

“[W]hen there is a confidential relationship, a presumption of undue influence arises, and “the proponents of the will must offer evidence in rebuttal.” *Lee v. Locklear (In re Estate of Anderson)*, 381 S.C. 568, 574, 614, S.E.2d 176, 180 (Ct. App. 2009).

“The party seeking to challenge a will on the basis of undue influence must present evidence which ‘unmistakenly and convincingly shows the party’s will was overborne by the defendant or someone acting on his behalf.’ However, the existence of a confidential relationship creates a presumption that the instrument is invalid, and the burden then shifts to the proponent of the instrument to affirmatively show the absence of undue influence.” *Id.*

“The contestants continue to bear the burden of proof throughout the will contest. In determining whether the contestants sustained such burden, the evidence has to be viewed in the light most favorable to the contestants.” *Id.* (emphasis added)

Judge Branham properly found that, because a confidential relationship existed, “the

burden of proof rebutting undue influence falls on the beneficiary.” (R.p. ____) As commonly used, the word “rebutting” means taking away something or overcoming a presumption. Judge Branham’s finding placed on Appellant the burden of countering prior evidence of undue influence. Judge Branham then found that “the burden to rebut undue influence was not met.” (R.p. ____)

Judge Hood agreed, finding that Judge Branham’s Order “also thoroughly explained Judge Branham’s conclusions that, by virtue of his confidential relationship with the testatrix (which raised a presumption of undue influence, which presumption was uncontested), Appellant had the burden to rebut undue influence and that such burden to rebut was not met.” (R.p. ____)

B. Even Ignoring the Presumption, Undue Influence was Proved by Respondents.

Appellant, by his argument that, “the presumption of undue influence arising from the grant of a power of attorney shifts to the proponent of a will [Appellant] the burden of going forward to present evidence to rebut the presumption, but does not shift the burden of proof,” seems to suggest that the proof of undue influence in this case is a close-call and falls on the fact that Appellant was named as Mrs. Robinson’s attorney-in-fact (agent). That is not the case. As indicated herein and in the separate Orders issued by Judge Branham and Judge Hood, the evidence of Appellant’s exercise of undue influence is quite persuasive and sufficient, even ignoring the presumption, to invalidate the subject Will. (R.pp. ____)

Judge Hood specifically found that, “S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-407 states that the burden of establishing undue influence is on the contestants of a Will. Although this statute is not specifically cited in her Order, Judge Branham’s detailed evaluation of the circumstances of the 2015 Will shows that she not only considered the facts of undue influence presented by Respondents but that she found that Respondents produced sufficient evidence to support a finding of undue influence

by Appellant.” (R.p. ____) (emphasis added)

Judge Hood further found that, “Judge Branham made a finding of undue influence upon the testamentary act based on factors including: Appellant’s control of his mother’s person, his control of the information provided to (and withheld from) the Will preparer, his presence at the execution of the Will and the significant changes the Will made to his mother’s estate plan. . . [and that] Judge Branham’s decision that Appellant failed to meet the burden of overcoming the presumption of undue influence was supported by the evidence and was within the Judge’s discretion.”¹ (R.p. ____)

Judge Branham ruled that the change of the disposition of the rest and residue of the estate to only Appellant “is an unjust distribution” (R.p. ____). By her ruling, Judge Branham is not substituting her judgment for that of Mrs. Robinson. Instead, she is identifying a factual circumstance supporting Respondents’ argument of undue influence, which “stood out with the Court.” (R.p. ____)

There are, primarily, two significant changes between the 2009 Will and the 2015 Will. The 2009 Will left the rest and residue of Almeter Robinson’s estate equally to her surviving children and named Mary as the Personal Representative. (Mary had also been designated as Personal Representative in the Will executed by Almeter Robinson in 1994.) The 2015 Will left the rest and residue of the estate exclusively to Appellant and named Appellant as Personal Representative. Importantly, the 2015 Will does not even mention Mary, with whom Appellant was often bickering. (R.p. ____)

¹ Importantly, this quote came from Judge Hood’s second Order (Amended Order Affirming Probate Court Order) (R.p. ____), which was issued in response to Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend a Judgment Rule 59(e) S.C.R.C.P. (R.p. ____) It does not appear in Judge Hood’s initial Order (R.p. ____) and therefore reflects his reconsideration of the facts and circumstances and his desire to issue a more-clear ruling affirming Judge Branham’s Order.

Appellant provided to Attorney Butcher the 1994 and 2009 Wills executed by Almeter Robinson (R.p. ____), and he led (or left) Ms. Butcher to believe that Mrs. Robinson owned several tracts of real property and had the right to dispose of these properties by the 2015 Will. (R.p. ____)

Judge Branham found that “. . . Attorney Butcher testified that she would not have prepared the 2015 Will if she had known that the property was in trust . . . [and that,] as a fiduciary, the Plaintiff beneficiary [i.e. Appellant] had a duty to disclose this information to Attorney Butcher which could have revealed more information to Attorney Butcher who testified that she would not have prepared a will had she known.” (R.p. ____)

The information provided to Attorney Butcher about these tracts of real property (as set forth in the previous Wills) was erroneous, and Appellant knew that it was erroneous. (R.p. ____)

Appellant failed to disclose correct information to Ms. Butcher, and this failure led Ms. Butcher to draft a Will, which attempted a disposition of real property which was both illogical and impractical.

Judge Branham did not shift the ultimate burden of proof on the issue of undue influence to Appellant, and Respondents, in fact, satisfied the burden of proof by unmistakable and convincing evidence. Although both judges concluded that Appellant failed to satisfy the burden to rebut the presumption of undue influence, this point can be considered moot, as Respondents met their burden of proof on the issue of undue influence, convincingly showing that Appellant exerted undue influence over Mrs. Robinson, which improperly affected her judgment and will when performing her testamentary act.

CONCLUSION

Appellant unquestionably had a confidential relationship with his mother, and he failed to rebut the presumption of undue influence; but even ignoring this presumption, Respondents made a compelling case that Appellant exerted undue influence over his mother. Respondents produced a higher quantum of evidence on that issue than did Appellant.

Judge Branham's Order, which she herself prepared, reflects that she thoroughly considered all the evidence and properly applied the law, concluding that, "based upon all of the testimony presented including testimony of the Plaintiff beneficiary, the Plaintiff beneficiary had **total control** of his mother's person" (R.p. ____) (emphasis added). Judge Hood agreed whole-heartedly with Judge Branham's findings and conclusions.

Judge Branham's Order and the subsequent Order of Judge Hood should be affirmed.